RECEIVED

Feb 21 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ARIEL ROBINSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000716

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JESSICA M. SAXON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the circuit court erred in admitting six pictures of the external injuries V.S. sustained and one autopsy photograph of the internal injuries V.S. sustained where the probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and where any probative value was negated by the extensive descriptive medical testimony elicited during the trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted during the October 2021 term of the Greenville County grand jury for one count of homicide by child abuse in the death of her foster daughter, V.S. R. 440. A pre-trial hearing to determine the admissibility of body camera footage containing statements made by Appellant and photographs of the injuries V.S. sustained was held on April 14, 2022, before the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin. R. 1. The State was represented by Christine Sustakovitch and Alexa Holloway. Appellant was represented by William Bouton. R. 1. At the conclusion of the hearing, the circuit court determined that most of the photographs would be admissible. R. 56, l. 22 - R. 57, l. 23. The court reserved ruling on the admissibility of the body camera footage until it could review the unedited footage in chambers. R. 48, ll. 3-9.

On May 9, 2022, the State called the case to trial before Judge Verdin and a jury. The State was again represented by Christine Sustakovitch and Alexa Holloway, and Appellant was again represented by William Bouton. R. 61. At the start of the trial, prior to jury selection, the court ruled that the body camera footage containing Appellant's statements was admissible because Appellant was not in custody at the time the statements were made. R. 63, l. 15 – R. 64, l. 21. After a four-day trial, the jury convicted Appellant as indicted. R. 430, ll. 20-25. Appellant was sentence to life imprisonment. R. 438, ll. 6-16; R. 442.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, an appellate court reviews errors of law only and is bound by the factual findings of the trial court unless clearly erroneous.” State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 312, 642 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2007). “The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of photographs are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion.” State v. Shuler, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. Wise, 359 S.C. 14, 21, 596 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004).

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in admitting six pictures of the external injuries V.S. sustained and one autopsy photograph of the internal injuries V.S. sustained where the probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and where any probative value was negated by the extensive descriptive medical testimony elicited during the trial.

Relevant Facts

On January 14, 2021, emergency personnel responded to the home of Ariel (Appellant) and Austin Robinson to treat their three-year-old foster¹ daughter, V.S. Austin had called 911 to report that V.S. was choking on water and had become unresponsive. State's Ex. 40 and 41² (911 Call). Members of the Simpsonville Fire Department were the first on scene and discovered that V.S. was in cardiac arrest. R. 131, l. 9-R. 132, l. 7; R. 137, ll. 1-9. When they removed her shirt to place defibrillator pads onto her chest, they noticed bruising on her lower abdomen. Once EMS arrived on scene the paramedics took over treatment. R. 139, ll. 14-23. When paramedics removed V.S.'s pants to start an IO (intraosseous) line for medication and fluid, they noticed extensive bruising to her legs. R. 139, l. 16-R. 140, l. 14. Appellant informed first responders that she had caused the bruising to V.S.'s abdomen when she was attempting life saving measures prior to their arrival. R. 138, ll. 11-17. She also stated that V.S.'s seven-year-old brother, J.E., had anger issues and would harm V.S. which caused the bruising to V.S.'s legs. R. 140, ll. 15-21. V.S. was transported to Greenville Memorial Hospital for treatment. R. 175,

¹ The Robinson's were fostering to adopt V.S. and her two older brothers C.E. and J.E. The adoption was set to be finalized the following week.

² A copy of these exhibits is on file with this Court.

ll. 8-15; R. 253, ll. 5-6; R. 256, ll. 1-2. Later that evening V.S. succumbed to her injuries and passed away. R. 271, ll. 22-25.

The following day an autopsy was performed by Dr. Michael Ward on V.S. to determine the cause and manner of death. R. 297, ll. 13-21. The autopsy revealed that V.S. died from multiple blunt force injuries that caused severe internal bleeding and the death was classified as a homicide. R. 315, l. 21-R. 316, l. 4; R. 313, ll. 22-23. Both Appellant and Austin were charged with homicide by child abuse. R. 182, l. 23-R. 183, l. 2. A few weeks after their arrest, Austin, along with his lawyer, gave a statement to law enforcement implicating Appellant in the death of V.S. R. 288, l. 13-R. 289, l. 24; R. 282, ll. 9-15. Based on the statement and Austin's agreement to testify against Appellant, the State allowed Austin to plead guilty to aiding and abetting homicide by child abuse with sentencing³ deferred until after Appellant's trial. R. 183, ll. 3-9

On April 14, 2022, the parties convened for a pretrial motions hearing. One of the matters addressed was the State's motion to admit photographs taken of V.S. "Nine photographs were submitted to the court for consideration at the hearing. Seven photographs were of the V.S. in the hospital documenting the bruising on her back, abdomen, and legs. One photograph was from the autopsy and showed the internal injuries to V.S.'s legs. While the State sought to admit an edited photograph, it provided the court with the unedited autopsy photograph for comparison. R. 4, ll. 7-17; R. 56, ll. 5-19.

The State argued that the photographs were not intended to inflame the jury but to prove the "extreme indifference to human life" element of the crime. The State also argued that the photographs were admissible pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, because Appellant had claimed she accidentally caused the bruising on V.S.'s abdomen when she attempted life saving measures

³ Austin was ultimately sentenced to twenty years incarceration.

and the State was entitled to put in evidence that was contrary to the claim of accident. Additionally, the State argued because Appellant had “introduced third-party guilt” by stating that J.E. had caused the bruising to V.S.’s legs that the photographs were necessary to show that a seven-year-old could not administer the degree of force necessary to cause the injuries. The State cited State v. Martucci, 380 S.C. 232, 669 S.E.2d 598 (2008), to support the admission of the autopsy photograph. R. 48, l. 13- R. 54, l. 11.

Defense counsel argued that the photographs were prejudicial because they created a tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, mainly an emotional one. He stated the photographs would “certainly inflame the passions of the jury” and argued that it was not necessary for the State to admit the photographs to prove its case. He argued that the photographs did not go to a substantial material fact and that the condition of V.S. could be shown in other ways, such as the diagram of the injuries prepared by the medical examiner. He argued the photographs were not necessary to aid the medical examiner in his testimony, particularly the autopsy photograph, and that the probative value of the photographs was outweighed by the prejudicial effect that they would have on Appellant. R. 48, l. 15-R. 56, l. 4.

The circuit court ultimately ruled that six of the photographs were admissible. The court excluded⁴ a close-up photograph of the side of V.S.’s face and ear as prejudicial and a photograph that showed the bruising along V.S.’s body as cumulative. The court found that the diagrams by the medical examiner did “not fully depict the injuries and the absence of any

⁴ The excluded photographs and the unedited autopsy photograph were admitted as Court’s Exhibits 1-3. The six photographs that the court deemed admissible were admitted as State’s Exhibits 1-6. The photographs were placed under seal on the court’s motion. The sealed exhibits are on file with this Court.

mistake or certainly the ability of a child to do this type of thing.” The court found the autopsy photograph relevant and necessary for the State to prove its case. R. 56, l. 22-R. 57, l. 23

At trial, the State elicited extensive medical testimony from numerous witnesses. Throughout the testimony of the witnesses, the State used the photographs deemed admissible during the pre-trial hearing and admitted over objection during the testimony of Investigator Jason Weibel. R. 122, l. 18- R. 123, l. 15. Specifically, State’s Exhibits 2-5⁵ were repeatedly presented to the jury throughout the trial.

Firefighter Osmine Givens testified that V.S. was “really cold” to the touch, wet, and did not have a heartbeat when he began chest compressions. She was in cardiac arrest which essentially meant she was dead. R. 137, l. 1-R. 138, l. 2. He stated that when they cut off V.S.’s shirt they saw the bruising on her abdomen and Appellant stated she had caused that by improperly performing CPR. However, in his experience and training he had never seen similar abdominal bruising from the administration of CPR. Firefighter Givens testified that EMS established an IO line on V.S. by drilling into her shin bone down to the marrow and that V.S. did not react to the procedure. When the bruising on V.S.’s legs was seen, he testified that Appellant stated V.S.’s brother J.E. had caused the injuries. He did not think a child could cause that kind of injury. R. 138, l. 8-R.141, l. 6. After meeting J.E., he thought to himself “I don’t care if you gave that kid a ball bat, he’s can’t – he’s not going to be able to do this much damage to that little girl.” R. 142, l. 14-R. 143, l. 17.

Firefighter Jeffery Jennings similarly testified that V.S. was “very cold, soaking wet, hair was wet, clothes were wet” and that she was in cardiac arrest with no pulse when he arrived, so she was “essentially dead.” He stated that in his ten years as a firefighter he had not seen similar

⁵ A copy of these exhibits is on file with this Court.

bruising on the abdomen from the administration of CPR. R. 153, l. 21-R. 155, l. 25. He stated that even when ribs are broken during the administration of CPR, he had not seen bruising like he saw on V.S. R. 156, ll. 15-18.

Paramedic Ken Koehler testified that the call came into EMS as a pediatric cardiac arrest which meant that the child's heart had stopped, they were not breathing, not responsive, and were technically dead. R. 162, l. 11-R. 164, l. 10. He testified that V.S. was unresponsive, cool to the touch, and cyanotic, which meant there was bluish coloring around her lips from a lack of circulation. He immediately noticed extensive, "real purplish" bruising on V.S.'s abdomen. R. 165, l. 19-R. 166, l. 11. V.S.'s heart was asystole, which meant there was no electrical or muscular activity occurring in the heart. Koehler testified that V.S. was administered epinephrine in an attempt to re-start her heart. R. 167, l. 17-R. 169, l. 23. Koehler noted extensive bruising on V.S.'s legs. Based on Appellant's statements, he believed that V.S.'s older brother would have been in his late teens as he thought the bruising had to have been caused by an adult. R. 170, l. 3-4; R. 171, l. 15-R. 172, l. 25. Koehler administered six doses of epinephrine but V.S.'s heartbeat never returned, and she never began breathing unassisted. He was not "overly optimistic" that V.S. would survive. R. 174, l. 11-R. 175, l. 10.

Dr. Jacqueline Granger testified as an expert in pediatric emergency medicine. R. 255, ll. 3-21. She was the treating physician when V.S. came into the emergency room on January 14. R. 255, l. 24-R. 256, l. 2. Dr. Granger testified that V.S. came in unresponsive in cardiac arrest and "immediately we noticed that there was extensive bruising that wasn't consistent with the report which we had received." R. 256, ll. 3-18. She stated the general consensus of the treatment team was astonishment at the "extent of bruising and trauma that was obvious" when V.S. arrived at the hospital. R. 256, l. 25-R. 257, l. 4. In her opinion, the injuries to V.S. were

inflicted, not accidental. R. 258, ll. 10-13. During her testimony, the State entered State's Exhibit 61⁶ into evidence over the objection of defense counsel. R. 257, ll. 5-25.

Dr. Granger testified that V.S. had a brief period of PEA, which is pulseless electrical activity, but that it was not enough electrical activity to beat her heart. In total, V.S. received eleven rounds of epinephrine which she testified was a lot. They were able to get V.S.'s heart to beat again but it was not "a very adequate heartbeat" and they were having a difficult time keeping V.S.'s blood pressure up. Dr. Granger did not believe V.S. would survive based on the amount of time she had been unresponsive and without a heartbeat. Because her heart was not beating, and she was not breathing it was presumed that she had no oxygenation to her brain for approximately forty minutes. Dr. Granger stated that the bruising on V.S. was "significantly greater than what most of us had ever seen before." R. 259, l. 22-R. 262, l. 17.

According to Dr. Granger, V.S.'s body temperature was ninety degrees when she arrived in the emergency room and her PH level was less than 6.79 which meant she was extremely acidotic. Dr. Granger explained that any PH level below seven is considered critically ill. V.S.'s CO2 levels were greater than 100 which was not compatible with life. V.S. pupils were fixed and dilated indicating no brain activity and her abdomen was distended. R. 264, l. 13-R. 266, l. 12.

Dr. Granger immediately noticed that V.S. had linear patterns in the bruising on her legs and what appeared to be a loop pattern which indicated that an object was used to hit V.S. She stated that after being hit V.S. would have been bleeding into the soft tissues of her body and the deep, dark, coloring and convescing of the bruising indicated that it was deep tissue bleeding. She stated the injuries to V.S. would have been "excruciatingly painful." In her medical opinion,

⁶ A copy of this exhibit is on file with this Court.

a seven-year-old child could not have injured V.S. because a child would not be able to produce the amount of force necessary to cause the injuries to V.S. and would not have been able to control V.S. long enough to cause such extensive injuries. Dr. Granger further stated that she had never seen abdominal bruising like what V.S. had caused by the administration of CPR or the Heimlich maneuver. She testified that the extensive bruising on V.S.'s body was "by far more severe than any bruising" that she had treated. R. 266, l. 22-R. 270, l. 25. In her medical opinion the injuries on V.S. resulted from multiple blows that appeared to happen around the same time. She stated after the blows V.S. would have been in excruciating pain, would have slowly become altered and then unresponsive. R. 271, ll. 4-16; R. 272, ll. 16-23.

Prior to the testimony of the medical examiner Dr. Ward, the circuit court addressed the courtroom gallery stating,

There is going to be testimony and evidence presented today of an incredibly graphic nature...I say that because if there is anyone in this courtroom who feels that they cannot handle that and sit here, for lack of a better word, stoically while this jury considers this testimony and evidence, then I encourage you to leave now. And I say that because I might have – in all candor, if this were someone – a loved one of mine, I might have a very difficult time keeping my emotions in check with regard to it.

R. 274, l. 15-R. 275, l. 1. Dr. Ward testified that V.S. was 38 inches in length and weighed 40 pounds at the time of her death. Upon his initial examination of V.S., he observed "virtually innumerable bruises present about [V.S.] on her stomach, on her back, and extending down to her lower legs." He stated State's Exhibit 2 accurately reflected the bruising on V.S. R. 298, ll. 3-17. Referencing State's Exhibit 4, he explained that there were scratching or abrasions to the skin of the abdomen where the bruising was and that the bruising on her legs was confluent, meaning the bruises overlapped each other and appeared almost solid. R. 300, ll. 12-24. In his

medical opinion, the bruises on V.S. were caused by blunt force injuries which he described as multiple blows to the skin and the tissue of V.S. R. 300, l. 25-R. 301, l. 6.

Turning to State's Exhibit 5, Dr. Ward again pointed out the various bruises that were merging as well as abrasions and scratching to the back of V.S. He testified that in his opinion the bruising to V.S.'s stomach and back was not consistent with incorrect hand placement during CPR. He stated the injuries were "distinct areas of blows to the skin of the abdomen and separate blows to the skin of the back." R. 301, l. 7-R. 303, l. 22. He also opined that the Heimlich maneuver would not cause the injuries seen on V.S.'s abdomen. R. 305, ll. 9-23. Consistent with the witness testimony that had come before him, Dr. Ward also stated that he had never seen similar bruising on individuals who had CPR performed on them. R. 305, l. 24-R. 306, 2.

Dr. Ward explained that V.S. had pattern bruising which meant that she was struck with a non-anatomical object. He stated that at least some of the injuries were inflicted with a foreign object. He agreed that the injuries could have been caused by a belt based on the patterns in the bruising. Using State's Exhibit 2, he pointed out various pattern injuries that he had observed. R. 306, l. 20-R. 308, l. 6. Dr. Ward testified that the force used to injure V.S. not only caused bruising to the skin but disrupted "virtually all of the superficial blood vessels of the skin" which meant that not only was there bruising but also bleeding into the fat and muscle layer. The blows were made with enough force to cause the upper layer to separate from the lower muscle layer and blood collected between the two areas. He testified "this isn't what we think of as a traditional bruise of the skin. This is a severe deep injury that's tearing tissue from tissue and allowing blood to collect within the tissues underneath the skin." R. 308, l. 18-R. 309, l. 16.

Over objection, the State moved State's Exhibit 42,⁷ a photograph from the autopsy of the internal damage to V.S.'s legs, into evidence. R. 309, l. 20-R. 310, l. 23. Dr. Ward explained that the photograph showed the back of V.S.'s legs from the thighs extending down to mid-calf. He stated there were some areas of relatively normal tissue, but the darker areas were where blood had bled into the fatty tissue of the skin. He pointed out an "avulsion pocket" which is where the tissue has been torn away from the underlying tissue and blood had pooled in the pocket. He stated the injuries were present on both legs. R. 311, l. 6-R. 312, l. 15. When asked about the force necessary to cause such injuries Dr. Ward testified

Well, force is – is hard to describe. But this is – these are very forceful strong blows that can disrupt the tissue underneath. The classic description of an avulsion pocket is someone who's been hit by a car. So[,] the back of their legs, it basically, emulsifies or liquifies the fat and tears that tissue plane. So[,] this, certainly, isn't the force of a car, but I'm just saying it is a very strong force that would – multiple blows – very – multiple strong blows that would disrupt that tissue plane allowing blood to entire into those phases.

R. 312, l. 16-R. 313, l. 4.

Dr. Ward opined that based on the colorization and lack of healing that the injuries occurred to V.S. within the same reasonable time period of minutes to hours. He testified that V.S. died because she bled to death into the tissues of her abdomen and legs. R. 313, ll. 5-23. He further testified that a seven-year-old child could not have inflicted that type of injury on V.S. and that the injuries V.S. suffered would have been painful. R. 314, l. 15-R. 315, l. 20. The official cause of death was multiple blunt force trauma injuries. R. 315, ll. 21-24. After Dr. Ward concluded his testimony, the court again addressed the gallery stating it knew that the testimony was difficult for everyone and that the court appreciated the demeanor of everyone throughout the testimony. R. 319, ll. 17-21.

⁷ A copy of this exhibit is on file with this Court.

The sixth and final witness to offer medical testimony was Dr. Christina Goben, the treating physician from the pediatric ICU unit at Greenville Memorial Hospital. R. 323, l. 23-25. Dr. Goben described V.S. as “the sickest of the sick” stating she barely had a pulse, that her blood pressure was about 80 over 40 to 50, her body temperature was 87 degrees, and that she was on a ventilator that was keeping her alive. She explained that a Glasgow Coma Score or GCS is an indicator of what a person can do in response to pain, verbal stimuli, and eye opening. When she examined V.S. she determined her GCS was a three which mean she was not doing anything. V.S. could not respond to pain, could not move, could not talk, and never opened her eyes. She testified that a deceased person has a GCS of three. R. 326, ll. 4-22.

In discussing the bruising to V.S. the State presented Dr. Goben with State’s Exhibits 2-5 but did not republish the photographs to the jury as the jury had already seen the pictures “lots of times.” R. 327, ll. 5-11. In addition to the bruising on V.S.’s abdomen and legs, Dr. Goben had documented bruising to her ear. She opined that the bruising was non-accidental and described it as “extensive bruising on a child’s body that was inflicted repetitively by blunt force trauma, which is the worst I’ve seen.” R. 327, l. 16-R. 328, l. 4. She also testified that a seven-year-old child would not be able to inflict the types of injuries seen on V.S. R. 328, ll. 13-21. According to Dr. Goben, after V.S. had been injured she would not have been moving and would not have been able to eat or drink normally. R. 328, l. 22-R. 329, l. 7.

Both Appellant and Austin testified during trial. Austin testified that he met Appellant when she was fourteen years old and started dating her when she was sixteen or seventeen years old. At that time, he was around twenty-one years old. They were married in 2010 and had two biological sons K.R., who was fourteen at the time of trial, and A.R., who was eleven. He stated that the idea to adopt was originally Appellants but they both wanted to go through the process

despite the challenges of becoming parents to five children. R. 181, l. 6-R. 182, l. 16; R. 183, ll. 20-23; R. 188, ll. 8-20. He testified that Appellant handled the discipline of V.S. and that they both would discipline J.E. and C.E. Austin claimed he had a great relationship with V.S., stating she never gave him any trouble. He testified that Appellant's main problem with V.S. was her taking too long to eat. R. 190, l. 3-R. 191, l. 9. He further stated that Appellant had "issues with [V.S.] not listening or – and just not, you know, I guess abiding by the rules, being defiant, or anything like that." R. 197, ll. 7-10.

When V.S. was taking too long to eat Appellant would place her on a timer. When the timer went off V.S. would get a warning and another timer would be set. When the second timer went off V.S. either got a time out or a spanking from Appellant. Austin testified that Appellant would spank V.S. with her hand, a belt, or a little wooden paddle. He could hear V.S. being spanked and sometimes watched it happened but did not think it was bad enough that he needed to intervene. R. 192, l. 4-R. 193, l. 23. Austin stated that Appellant typically spanked V.S. in her room but sometimes would spank her in the kitchen. He could hear the spankings from the other side of the door when they occurred in V.S.'s room. R. 203, ll. 4-13.

Austin testified that the evening before V.S.'s death the family went to church and V.S. ate a snack on the way there. When they arrived at church V.S. had thrown up on herself which upset Appellant. He testified Appellant went inside to clean up V.S. and because they did not have a change of clothes or their debit card, they borrowed clothes from Appellant's sister for V.S. to change into. R. 198, l. 2-R. 199, l. 20. When they returned home, he gave V.S. a bath while Appellant went to the grocery store. During the bath, he noticed a light bruise on V.S.'s lower back. He testified that the bruise he saw was not the same as the bruising on V.S.'s back and legs that was shown while he was testifying. R. 201, l. 4-R. 202, l. 17.

According to Austin, he, Appellant, and V.S. were at home the morning of January 14. Austin was outside waiting for the family van to get towed and doing “little stuff in the yard.” He testified that when he went outside V.S. was okay. While outside he could hear “a little fussing back and forth” about V.S. needing to eat her food before she got placed on a timer. He next heard a few minutes of crying which stopped before he heard Appellant start “fussing” again. He went inside, observed everything was fine and then returned outside. R. 204, l. 9-R. 206, l. 25. When he was back outside, he again heard Appellant fussing and V.S. crying. He stated he could not hear V.S. being hit but knew she was getting hit from her crying. R. 207, ll. 12-22.

Austin testified that after coming back inside he could hear Appellant getting louder with V.S. about eating her food and could hear V.S. being hit. He went upstairs and saw the bruising on V.S. and saw Appellant with a belt standing over V.S. He stated the bruising he saw was not as dark and defined as it was in the photographs. He testified he told Appellant “You’ve gone too far this time,” and stated they gave V.S. an Epsom salt bath. He estimated the incident occurred over the course of about an hour and he never intervened. R. 208, l. 2-R. 211, l. 4. After the bath, V.S. was wrapped up in a heating blanket because she was cold. Austin went to CVS to get some children’s Tylenol and stated he still was not inclined to call 911 at that point because V.S. was still coherent. R. 213, l. 4-21. He testified that V.S. then requested water and that she drank four or five cups of water before saying she felt like she was going to throw up and then going limp. R. 215, ll. 17-R. 216, l. 15. According to Austin, V.S. was naked wrapped up in the blanket and Appellant dressed her after 911 was called. R. 247, ll. 21-25.

Austin stated that he did not immediately call 911 or tell police what had happened because he was scared about getting into trouble and the kids being taken away. R. 186, l. 14-R.

187, l. 23-16; R. 211, ll. 5-12. He also testified that he was trying to protect Appellant and so he did not interject when Appellant was blaming J.E. for the injuries to V.S. While looking at the photographs of V.S.'s injuries, he testified that J.E. did not cause the injuries to V.S. R. 187, l. 12-R. 188, l. 4. During cross-examination Austin admitted to chronically lying to Appellant throughout the marriage about numerous things as well as pawning family items to get money. R. 222, ll. 1-4; R. 234, l. 13-R. 237, l. 12. He confirmed that he disciplined the other children but stated he never disciplined V.S. R. 233, ll. 23-25. He also testified that he never used a belt on any of the children. R. 232, ll. 11-16.

Appellant testified that she was twelve years old when she first met Austin and that he was four or five years older than her. She confirmed they started dating when she was sixteen, were married in 2010, and had two biological sons. She also confirmed that it was her idea to adopt because she wanted a little girl but there were health risks with having more biological children. R. 332, l. 23-R. 333, l. 24. Appellant testified that V.S. was a perfect child that did not have a lot of behavioral issues and was really easy to get along with. She spoiled V.S. as the baby girl and showed her favoritism. R. 335, ll. 6-14. She stated that she and V.S. had a good relationship, that V.S. was her "mini-me" and wanted to do everything she did. R. 354, ll. 70-15.

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