RECEIVED

Feb 05 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000716

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ARIEL S. ROBINSON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North St.
Greenville, SC 29601
(864)- 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not abuse her discretion in admitting photographs of victims' injuries.

Appellant contends that the trial judge abused her discretion by admitting six pictures of the external injuries Victim sustained and one autopsy photograph of the internal injuries Victim sustained because the probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and where any probative value was negated by the extensive descriptive medical testimony elicited during the trial.

“‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” Rule 402, SCRE. “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE. “A trial court has a particularly wide discretion in ruling on Rule 403 objections.” State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012).

“Probative value is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case. It is the weight that a piece of relevant evidence will carry in helping the trier of fact decide the issues.” State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 610, 759 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2014). “If the offered photograph serves to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it.” State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 27 (2014). See State v. Martucci, 380 S.C. 232, 699 S.E.2d 598 (Ct. App. 2008) (holding autopsy photographs of child were admissible to corroborate the testimony regarding various injuries inflicted on child). “It is well settled in this state that if the photograph serves to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it. In

addition, this Court has held that autopsy photographs may be presented to the jury in an effort to show the circumstances of the crime and character of the defendant.” State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 229 (2010).

Similar to Torres, the photos of the injuries to Victim were material in corroborating testimony regarding the injuries as well as establishing an element of the crime. The judge charged the jury with homicide by child abuse. (R. 427). “A person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if the person causes the death of a child under the age of eleven while committing child abuse or neglect, and the death occurs under circumstances manifesting and extreme indifference to human life.” S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-85(A)(1).

State’s Exhibit 2 is a frontal picture taken from above that shows the overall bruising on Victims abdomen and legs. Firefighters Givens and Jennings both used this photo to explain that they have never seen bruises like this from CPR. (R. 139-141; 155). Dr. Jacqueline Granger, an expert in pediatric emergency medicine, as well as forensic pathologist, Michael Ward, used this photo to explain that an object was used because of the pattern. (R. 266-268; 298-307). State’s Exhibit 3 shows the bruising on the back of Victim. Husband testified that Victim did not have those bruises the night before when he was giving her a bath. (R. 201). State’s Exhibit 4 shows the bruising on the right side of Victim’s abdomen and her right thigh. This photo was used by Givens and paramedic, Ken Koehler, to explain the bruising on her legs. (R. 140; 171). This photo was also used by Dr. Ward to explain that the cause of this bruising was blunt force trauma. (R. 300-301). State’s Exhibit 5 shows the bruises on Victims inner thighs. Dr. Ward used this photo to explain that these were different blows than the other bruising on the body. (R. 301). State’s Exhibit 61 shows the bruising on the back of Victim’s legs. Granger used this photo to explain that due to the severity of the bruising it was inflicted on Victim and could not be accidental. (R. 257).

State's Exhibit 42 is an autopsy photo of the inside of the victim's legs. Ward used this photo to explain to the jury that Victim's cause of death was internal bleeding into the tissues of her legs. (R. 311-312). He further testified that the tissue inside the legs had been torn away from the underlying tissue and the blood collected within there could only be caused by forceful strong blows that could not possibly have been caused by Victim's seven-year-old brother. (R. 311-312).

"The standard is not simply whether the evidence is prejudicial; rather, the standard under Rule 403, SCRE is whether there is a danger of *unfair* prejudice that *substantially* outweighs the probative value of the evidence." State v. Heath, 433 S.C. 506, 515, 860 S.E.2d 673, 678 (Ct. App. 2021) (emphasis added). Although the photographs have some prejudicial value, it does not substantially outweigh the probative value of establishing an element of the crime charged.

"Photographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded if they are irrelevant or not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions." State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228 (2010). Appellant argues that the purpose of showing the pictures to the jury was to create an emotional response in the jurors. In Rosemond, photos of murder victims taken at the crime scene and in autopsy were admitted over Appellant's objection that the pictures were unduly prejudicial and deprived him of a fair trial. State v. Rosemond, 335 S.C. 593, 518 S.E.2d 588 (1999). Our Supreme Court held that the photographs were not unnecessarily gruesome, as the bodies had been cleaned of blood. Id. at 597, 518 S.E.2d at 590. See also State v. Franklin, 318 S.C. 56, 456 S.E.2d 361 (1995) (affirming admission of autopsy slides, noting they showed victim's wounds and body had been cleaned of blood). In State v. Hawes, the court held that admission of crime scene photographs of a victim who had been stabbed to death were not an abuse of discretion because the photographs were relevant in establishing the issue of malice, as they established the wounds that were inflicted on the victim and showed the

extent of the victim's injuries. State v. Hawes, 423 S.C. 118, 813 S.E.2d 513 (Ct. App. 2018). Similar to Hawes, the photos of the Victim's bruising were necessary to show the extent of Victim's injuries and explain the force that was needed to inflict these injuries going to the indifference to human life element of the offense charged. The photos were also necessary to corroborate testimony that negated Appellant's claims that the bruising on Victim's abdomen was caused by doing CPR and the bruises to her legs were caused by her seven-year-old brother.

In State v. Martucci, this Court held that autopsy photos of a child's internal organs and other injuries were admissible in a homicide by child abuse case because the photographs were used to corroborate the testimony of the doctor who performed the autopsy regarding the various injuries inflicted on the child and the internal trauma that caused the child's death. State v. Martucci, 380 S.C. 232, 669 S.E.2d 598 (Ct. App. 2008). This Court further held that the photos were "relevant to prove Child was abused, that the abuse was the cause of his death, and that the abuse manifested an extreme indifference to human life, all of which support the charge of homicide by child abuse." Id. at 250, 669 S.E.2d at 608. Similar to Martucci, Victim's cause of death was internal bleeding into the tissues of her leg caused by child abuse and that abuse manifested an extreme indifference to human life.

The prejudicial value of these photos does not substantially outweigh the probative value of corroborating testimony and establishing an element of the offense charged. Moreover, the question is whether the trial judge abused her discretion. As held in State v. Heyward, our supreme court held "when the trial court actually exercises its discretion in balancing the inherent danger of unfair prejudice posed by these photographs against "high" probative value, and puts its reasoning on the record for the appellate court to review the trial court's ruling...is a decision that we will almost always find within the trial court's discretion." State v. Heyward, S.C. Sup. Ct.

Order dated October 11, 2023 (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 40). The trial judge did not abuse her discretion, but properly exercised discretion by excluding Court's Exhibits 1-3, stating that Court's 1 showed Victim's face and would therefore be more prejudicial than probative, Court's 2 was redundant, and Court's 3 was the unedited zoomed out version of the autopsy photo. She then admitted the photos she believed were appropriate. Therefore, Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.